

MINUTES

Licensing Sub-Committee (2)

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Minutes of a meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee (2) held on Thursday 29th April, 2021, This will be a virtual meeting.

Members Present: Councillors Tim Mitchell (Chairman), Jacqui Wilkinson and Aziz Toki

1. MEMBERSHIP

There were no changes to the Membership of the Sub-Committee.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no Declarations of Interest.

1 Order of Proceedings

2. 10.00 AM: SOPHIES, 42 - 44 GREAT WINDMILL STREET, LONDON W1D 7ND

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE NO.2 ("The Committee")

<u>Thursday 29 April 2021</u>

- Membership: Councillor Tim Mitchell (Chairman), Councillor Jacqui Wilkinson and Councillor Aziz Toki
- Officer Support: Legal Advisor: Viviene Walker Policy Officer: Aaron Handy Committee Officers: Cameron Maclean Presenting Officer: Kevin Jackaman

Application for a Variation of a Premises Licence – Sophies 42-44 Great Windmill Street London W1D 7ND – 21/00317/LIPV

FULL DECISION

Premises

Sophies 42-44 Great Windmill Street London W1D 7ND

Applicant

Sophie's Soho Limited

Cumulative Impact Area?

West End

<u>Ward</u>

West End

Proposed Licensable Activities and Hours

The application was for a variation of a premises licence as follows -

• To extend the permitted hours for all licensable activities within the basement area of the premises to 02:30 hours Fridays and Saturdays for a period of two years

Representations Received

- Licensing Authority (Roxsasna Haq)
- Metropolitan Police Service (PC Bryan Lewis)
- Environmental Health Service (Dave Newitt)
- Anna Moscato (local resident)
- Katarzyna Bogatek (local resident)
- Piotr Cybulak (local resident)
- Orsolya Kocsis (local resident)
- Jose Moutinho (local resident)
- Franck Alves Scarduelli (local resident)
- The Soho Society

Summary of Objections

- The Licensing Authority expressed concerns in relation to this application and how the premises would promote the licensing objectives. The LA noted that as this application is seeking to increase licensable activity for up to 400 persons within the West End Cumulative Impact Zone for additional hours the applicant must demonstrate an exception to policy
- The Metropolitan Police Service objected on the basis that the application would undermine the licensing objectives, noting the location of the Premises within the West End CIA;
- EHS stated they believed the proposals would be likely to increase the risk of public nuisance, noting the hours sought are in excess of the Core Hours and the potential for impact on occupiers of residential dwellings in the vicinity;

- Local residents expressed concerns about disruption caused by the additional hours sought, in particular noise and congestion, groups of people gathering and generally impacts on crime and disorder and public nuisance;
- The Soho Society objected to this application on the grounds of prevention of crime and disorder, prevention of public nuisance, public safety and cumulative impact in the West End Cumulative Impact Area

Summary of Application

This is an application for a variation of an existing premises licence to extend the permitted hours for all licensable activities within the basement area of the premises to 02:30 hours Fridays and Saturdays for a period of two years.

Policy Position

Under Policy HRS1, applications for hours outside the core hours will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant policies, and with particular regard to the matters identified in Policy HRS1.

Under Policy PB1 it is the Licensing Authority's policy to refuse applications within the West End Cumulative Impact Zone other than applications to vary the existing licence hours within

the council's Core Hours Policy HRS1 and applications that seek to vary the existing licence so as to reduce the overall capacity of the premises.

Under Policy MD1 it is the Licensing Authority's policy to refuse applications within the West End Cumulative Impact Zone other than applications to vary the existing licence hours within

the council's Core Hours Policy HRS1, and/or, applications that seek to vary the existing licence so as to reduce the overall capacity of the premises.

SUBMISSIONS AND REASONS

Mr Kevin Jackaman, Senior Licensing Officer, outlined the application. The application was originally to extend permitted hours for licensable activities in the basement until 02:30 hours Monday to Saturday, closing 30 minutes thereafter, but was amended to be only for Fridays and Saturday and for a temporary period of 2 years. Representations received from Metropolitan Police, Environmental Health and the Licensing Authority as well as 7 representations from interested parties. The Premises are situated within the West End Ward and fall within the West End CIA.

Mr Alun Thomas, on behalf of the Applicant, explained that the Applicant had taken heed of comments made by the Licensing Authority as reflected by changes in the submission. He further noted that they had submitted a comprehensive dispersal strategy.

Mr Thomas stated the application is one of the best exceptions that he has presented to the Sub Committee due to the huge reduction in capacity proposed. This reduction is linked to the extension of hours, which has been asked for a 2-year period for Fridays and Saturdays only. Mr Thomas submitted the application was in accordance with policy and promotes the licensing objectives.

In response to comments made by interested parties, Mr Thomas stated this was not a test case noting the unique circumstances of the case. Mr Thomas explained that business did not respond to normal following the third Covid lockdown. Mr Thomas noted this is not a high-volume vertical drinking premises (given alcohol must be ancillary to food and music and dancing) which is the type of premises which causes the most problems within the West End CIA. Mr Thomas explained that most of the basement is laid out with seating and this is why they are willing to propose a smaller capacity because that is an appropriate way to operate a premises such as this in the extended hours.

Mr Thomas explained there is a substantial food menu and many customers (25-35% was the applicant's estimation) will have eaten upstairs already. Mr Thomas submitted this is a really nice comfortable venue that is well managed and there have been no complaints or incidents.

Mr Thomas explained that in August 2017 when extended hours were not granted the Applicant did come close to having them granted. That application was for a new premises licence to replace the licence currently held by the Grace Bar (capacity 975, 650 of which in the basement). A new licence was applied for, surrendering that licence, reducing basement capacity to 325 and introducing other conditions promoting the objectives such as smoking and dispersal policies. Mr Thomas submitted the licence was granted erring on the side of caution, with no extended hours but no reduced capacity. As a result of this, Mr Thomas explained they still have a licence with a capacity of 975 persons.

Mr Thomas submitted that the Applicant needs this licence granted in order for the business to survive. He noted that if they fail then the current licence could be taken on by another business trading as the previous premises did.

Mr Thomas explained there are only three ways to get into the Premises – there is no direct entrance from the street.

Mr Thomas clarified the variation sought was Fridays – Saturdays, reducing capacity from 650 to 250, and temporary for 2 years. Mr Thomas stated there had been no issues with the Premises.

Mr Thomas explained there is now the infrastructure in place to deter anti-social activity which is the primary concern of residents.

Ms Sophie Bathgate explained the Applicant had fallen in love with the history of the Premises and wanted to fly the flag for Soho's history. Customers for the Premises were hand-picked from the restaurant above. The Applicant aimed to have customers not have to leave the building for their night's entertainment. The variation was being sought in order to allow for this holistic experience in the building.

Ms Bathgate explained that their initial investment was beginning to be realised, having been opened for roughly 3 years, prior to Covid. The Applicant is now down easily £1,000,000 and Ms Bathgate explained this as similar to starting again.

Mr Rupert Power further explained that Jack Solomon's is like a well-kept secret – customers are carefully picked and it is a place for anyone and everyone provided they are in the right spirit of mind.

Mr Thomas explained the key differences from the 2017 application is that it was 6days a week, it had a capacity of 325, it was a permanent extension and it was before the Windmill was re-licenced with all the additional conditions and controls recently imposed. Mr Thomas explained by reference to an acoustic report that the ambient noise levels did not change between 00:00 hours and 03:00 hours.

In relation to the bodycam condition requested by the Police, Mr Thomas stated that the Applicant did not think they needed it and it was also an additional cost for them.

In response to questions from the Committee:

- (a) Mr Thomas explained the licence capacity is 975 of which 650 can use the basement. However, based upon the numbers of toilets the Premises has the basement is restricted to 400. Mr Thomas explained that if they put additional toilets in or assigned the licenced the capacity would be 650 again even though they are currently operating at 400;
- (b) Mr Thomas explained the current licence condition only requires bags to be searched which the Police now want to change to searching persons. Mr Thomas stated searching bags is bad enough and they do not want to have to search persons.

PC Bryan Lewis, Metropolitan Police, explained the Police maintain their objection based on the cumulative impact area policy. He stated he is very familiar with the Premises and he confirmed it has never been a problem for the Police. However, in his view 03:00 hours closure is more risk because people will consume more alcohol.

PC Lewis explained he hadn't requested normal nightclub conditions because the Premises is not a nightclub but rather a cocktail bar which may attract older and more responsible customers. He explained he had requested 7 conditions, 2 of which were not agreed. PC Lewis explained he had requested full searching from 23:00 hours because in his view the risk goes up the later the Premises is open and this makes it safer. PC Lewis explained he had requested body worn footage on this basis too. PC Lewis stated he had offered to Mr Thomas to reduce body worn video to 2 door staff – he explained it is only engaged if there is a problem so people shouldn't be concerned about being filmed.

In response to questions from the Committee:

- (a) PC Lewis explained that 2 door supervisors wearing body worn cameras would be adequate;
- (b) PC Lewis explained there is a substantial terrorist risk and this was one of the main factors behind asking for searching. He noted that nearly all nightclubs open until 03:00 hours have searching policies;
- (c) PC Lewis stated in his view the risk increases as premises are open later.

Ms Jo Feinstein who confirmed she lives within 30 seconds of the Premises has had no problems with the Premises and looks forward to their return. She stated this part of Soho is very quiet at night and would like a venue like this to be open to put security on the streets at night. She stated she would feel a lot safer with late-night venues like this.

In response to questions from the Committee:

(a) Ms Feinstein confirmed she had lived in her current location since during lockdown.

Mr Dave Newitt, Environmental Health, stated he had maintained his representation because what is sought exceeds the core hours and is in a cumulative impact area. He stated it is true to say that the Premises has operated satisfactorily – there were no complaints or concerns on the Council's system, so he was happy to say it has operated well.

In his view there was a balancing act between having extended hours and whether they could be offset by a reduction in capacity. Mr Newitt referenced paragraph F89 which states there has to be a "significant reduction" in capacity, which in his view the application sounded like. However, Mr Newitt noted that even with that reduction there would be 250 people in the CIA later in the night.

In relation to the acoustic report, Mr Newitt stated the background noise levels do change a bit but the levels are not massively different – they gradually decline from 03:00 hours but then pick up from 05:00 hours. Mr Newitt stated the important parts of the graph are the light-grey spikes (LaMAX) which are impact sounds – short but loud and high-intensity sounds. Mr Newitt noted there are quite a few of these at 03:00 hours and it is this which disturbs local residents. It is this which concerns EHS.

In relation to cumulative impact, Mr Newitt stated the reduction in capacity was a good offer, the fact that it is time-limited is helpful and the fact that it is Fridays and Saturdays only is helpful. In his view it is possible for them to operate later without causing too much problem.

Mr Newitt stated there is nothing in the current licence to stop vertical-drinking, however condition 41 requires the sale of alcohol to being ancillary to the use of the Premises for music and dancing or substantial refreshment. Mr Newitt noted this didn't require customers to sit down or have a meal but rather it is the use of the Premises that is important. Mr Newitt stated he is pleased by the Police's proposed condition in relation to last entry time. What was of concern to EHS are people who have not been in the Premises but who want to turn up to the Premises as a destination venue – the last-entry time makes this quite a different experience in terms of impact on customers who are already in the Premises.

Mr Newitt clarified in relation to capacity – one assessment is a "safe capacity" and another is based on toilet provision. At present, the limiting factor is the latter.

In response to questions from the Committee:

(a) Mr Newitt confirmed he maintained his representation because it was a significant extension in a CIA and these matters should be considered by the Sub-Committee.

Ms Roxsana Haq, Licensing Authority, explained the Licensing Authority have maintained their representation as the Premises is within the West End CIA. She stated members must consider the application under Policy MD1, where it states at paragraph B -

"it is the Licensing Authority's Policy to refuse applications within the West End Cumulative Impact Zone other than:

2. Applications that seek to vary the existing licence so as to reduce the overall capacity of the premises"

Ms Haq noted the amendments to the variation application. She noted in summary that although the Applicant is reducing the capacity they are requesting an increase in the terminal hour on Friday and Saturday. Therefore, the Licensing Authority ask the Sub Committee whether the reduction in capacity is genuinely exceptional to the increase in hours.

Mr Richard Brown, on behalf of the Soho Society and local residents, submitted that financial reasons cannot and should not outweigh the licensing objectives. Mr Brown stated that in a nutshell to grant this variation would be to drive a coach and horses through the newly published SLP at a time when the cumulative impact assessment provided very strong evidence that cumulative impact was getting worse and stricter policy requirements may be required.

Mr Brown stated what is sought falls squarely within what the SLP seeks to prevent except in exceptional circumstances. Mr Brown stated that finding exceptional circumstances in this case would put the Council in a difficult position for future applications.

Mr Brown stated he did not think the licence says what Mr Thomas says in relation to capacity.

Mr Brown clarified that Soho had gone back to normal, not businesses. The Soho Society's experience is that the footfall in Soho has gone back up.

Mr Brown said his recollection is not that the applicant came close to getting their application in 2017, noting the decision states the Sub Committee gave thought to refusing the application entirely. Mr Brown noticed that because this application was in 2017 it was before the bulk of evidence for the CIA had been gathered.

Mr Brown noted there is no requirement for alcohol to be ancillary to substantial refreshment under the current licence.

In relation to precedent, Mr Brown accepted it is correct that applications have to be dealt with on their merits but noted that this exercise must include an examination of the wider implications of a decision, particularly in a CIA.

Mr Brown stated that the application is contrary to Policy. He stated the Sub Committee needs to have regard to the reasons underlying the policy, noting paragraph D4.

Mr Brown submitted the application only being Friday and Saturday is no comfort to the Soho Society as these are the busiest days of the week. In relation to capacity, Mr Brown stated he is not clear where the figure of 650 comes from, noting condition 28 of the premises licence limits the Premises to 400 which can be increased if sanitary accommodation is improved. Mr Brown also stated the 2-year limit was no comfort.

Mr Brown submitted the Windmill is a red herring. The conditions added to that licence were not to enforce against customers of other premises.

Mr David Gleeson stated this is one of the loudest areas in the West End. It can be very difficult to sleep at night. Mr Gleeson stated the Soho Society is extremely sympathetic to businesses. However, he stated that because they have made a loss doesn't mean the hours should be changed. Mr Gleeson stated the doormen at the Windmill is a red herring as they have little say as to what their patrons do when the leave the venue.

In response to questions from the Committee:

(a) A

Conclusion

The Sub Committee has a duty to consider the application on its individual merits and took into account all of the committee papers, supplementary submissions made by the Applicant and the oral evidence given by all parties during the hearing in its determination of the matter.

The Sub Committee noted that the Applicant had amended its original application, the reduction of the capacity and that the application was time limited.

The Premises are situated within the West End Cumulative Impact area and so the policy presumption is to refuse the application unless exceptional circumstances can be proven under the SLP.

The Sub Committee noted that representations were received from the Metropolitan Police Service, Environmental Health Service, the Licensing Authority, the Soho Society and six local residents, all cited public nuisance as an issue in relation to the later hours. All representations were considered by the Sub Committee.

It was noted that the Responsible Authorities maintained their representations because the Premises are within the Cumulative Impact Area.

On balance, the Sub Committee decided that the Applicant had not provided sufficient reasons as to why the granting of the application would promote the licensing objectives and therefore refused the application for the extension of hours for licensable activities. The Sub Committee noted that the Premises have had the benefit of a Premises Licence since 2017.

The Sub Committee was advised that the premises are not a high volume vertical drinking venue because drinking is ancillary to food, there is a substantial food menu, and twenty five per cent of the customers would dine in the restaurant on the ground floor of the premises, then go to the basement for a nightcap after their meal.

The Sub Committee was informed that the capacity of the basement would not exceed 250 customers (reduced from a potential 650).

The Applicant stated that there have been no complaints or incidents at the premises and that they need the variation to the licence in order for the business to survive.

The Sub Committee welcomed the additional conditions that had been agreed with the Police with regard to the dispersal policy, no admittance or re-admittance to the premises after 01:00 hours.

However, the Sub Committee did express concern that the Applicant did not agree to two of the conditions, namely, search by a SIA member and a minimum of two licensed SIA door staff on duty equipped with Body Worn Video. The Applicant stated that these requirements would be additional costs to them.

It was the Sub Committee's considered view, however, that the increase in the hours would lead to increased public nuisance in the West End CIA.

In terms of the policy considerations, the Sub Committee had regard to Policy HRS1 which states: "Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in this policy will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy".

The Sub Committee appreciated it has discretion when considering the merits of the application but took the view that granting the application would be contrary to other policies. The Sub Committee had regard to all relevant policies under the SLP in particular Policy PN1: the prevention of Public Nuisance.

Policy PN1 states: **"To prevent public nuisance the Licensing Authority will apply the following criteria and take into account the following considerations, where relevant, in determining applications and reviews".**

Paragraphs 1-3 on pages 32-33 of the SLP set out the various considerations the Sub Committee should have regard to and the reasons for the policy are contained on pages 34-35 of the SLP.

The Sub Committee felt that it needed to strike the right balance when considering the merits of the application and the evidence before it and did not arrive at the decision to refuse the application lightly having regard to the full set of circumstances of the case. It did properly consider whether the proposed conditions offered would mitigate the concerns of residents but was not persuaded by the Applicant that these would go to the heart of the problems associated with nuisance and exceptionality.

The Sub Committee was of the view that exceptional reasons had not been provided.

It sympathised wholly with the Applicant that businesses are struggling in the current climate, but exceptionality must first and foremost be proven in accordance with the policy aims and objectives. Regrettable on this occasion it had not been demonstrated as to why the Sub Committee should be departed from the policy requirements. The Sub Committee came to the overall conclusion that the additional hours would have a negative impact on the cumulative impact area leading to the licensing objectives being undermined.

This is the Full Decision reached by the Licensing Sub-Committee.

This Decision takes immediate effect.

The Licensing Sub-Committee

29 April 2021

3. 2.00 PM: 102 GREAT PORTLAND STREET, LONDON, W1W 6PD

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE NO.2 ("The Committee")

Thursday 29 April 2021

Membership: Councillor Tim Mitchell (Chairman), Councillor Jacqui Wilkinson and Councillor Aziz Toki

Officer Support: Legal Advisor: Viviene Walker Policy Officer: Aaron Handy Committee Officers: Cameron Maclean Presenting Officer: Kevin Jackaman

<u>Application for a New Premises Licence – 102 Great Portland Street, London</u> W1W 6PD – 20/11994/LIPN

FULL DECISION

Premises

102 Great Portland Street, London W1W 6PD

Applicant

Hrm Gathani Limited

Cumulative Impact Area?

N/A

<u>Ward</u>

West End

Proposed Licensable Activities and Hours

Sale by retail of alcohol (on sales)

Monday to Sunday: 09:00 hours to 23:00 hours

Hours premises are open to the public

Monday to Friday: 07:00 hours to 23:30 hours Saturday to Sunday: 08:00 hours to 23:30 hours

Representations Received

- Metropolitan Police Service (Cheryl Boon) (withdrawn)
- Environmental Health (Maxwell Koduah)
- Alan Mahon (local resident)
- Eoghain Murphy (local resident)
- John Eccles (local resident)
- Frank Thaxton (local resident)
- Laurent Chauvier and Anne Gillespie (local residents)

Summary of Objections

- EHS expressed concern that the playing of recorded music may increase public nuisance in the area and the supply of alcohol and hours requested to supply it may increase public nuisance and affect public safety within the area;
- Local residents expressed concern the application would create a substantial nuisance to residents of the flats above, in particular smells travelling, as well as concerns about fire-exits and safety

Summary of Application

This is an application for a New Premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003 ("The Act"). The Premises intend to operate as a fine dining Indian Restaurant. The Premises are not located in the Cumulative Impact Area.

Policy Position

Under Policy HRS1, applications within the core hours will generally be granted subject to not being contrary to other policies in the SLP.

Under Policy RTN1 applications outside the West End CIA will generally be granted subject to the matters identified in Policy RTN1.

SUBMISSIONS AND REASONS

Mr Kevin Jackaman, Senior Licensing Officer, outlined the application. Mr Jackaman explained the start-time for the sale of alcohol had been changed from 08:00 hours to 09:00 hours following consultation with the Metropolitan Police. Representations had been received from Environmental Health. There had also been 5 representations from interested parties. A representation was received from the Metropolitan Police which was withdrawn. The Premises is situated within the West End ward and do not fall within any area of cumulative impact.

Mr Hitendra Gathani explained that he has run businesses in Westminster for over 30 years. He used to have a bar and restaurant on Great Titchfield street which he sold but now is seeking to set up another restaurant, noting that a bar was too much work to handle for him. He explained his intention is to set up an Indian restaurant where he provides fresh food at a reasonable cost.

Mr Gathani explained that many customers would like something to drink with their meal and that is why he has applied for this licence as there is no extant licence for the Premises. He noted smells come from the coffee shop which there aren't objections about. Odours can come from any type of food and noted restaurants in the vicinity which also have licences.

Mr Gathani stated he believed in good communications with local residents – he intends to sort any issues as quickly as possible. He noted that even if he doesn't have an alcohol licence he will be able to cook food and ask people to bring their own alcohol. He stated by making this application he wants to be responsible and control what people are drinking. Mr Gathani stated he is a responsible person and will be the DPS.

Mr Gathani noted there is a pub half a minutes walk away from the Premises where people binge drink. He stated there is no suggestion there will be people more drunk at the Premises than at the nearby pub.

Mr Gathani emphasised that smell has nothing to do with the alcohol licence being applied for. The restaurant will go ahead.

In response to questions from the Committee:

- (a) Mr Gathani explained that recorded music is background music, it will not be noisy. Accordingly, following discussions with Environmental Health, Mr Gathani had withdrawn the application for recorded music as it is not needed for background music;
- (b) Mr Gathani explained the Premises would open at 07:00 hours for breakfast and he thought people may sometimes like alcohol with their breakfast. However, he amended the application in relation to the starting-time for the sale of alcohol following representations received from the Metropolitan Police;
- (c) Mr Gathani explained that the only place smokers can go is directly in front of the Premises. They have not requested outdoor seating for that reason.

Mr Maxwell Koduah, Environmental Health Services, explained that discussions between him and the applicant had resulted in conditions which are all agreed. Mr Koduah drew the Sub Committee's attention to the fact that there is an agreement between the applicant and the Police that alcohol can only be sold to people taking a table meal and ancillary to their meal. Mr Koduah explained that this meant that food was an implied part of this application. Mr Koduah stated the current state of the Premises is inappropriate to make safety considerations. He noted the capacity is to be determined upon completion.

In response to questions from the Committee:

(a) Mr Koduah confirmed that all conditions in the application had been agreed by the applicant.

Mr Richard Brown, appearing on behalf of Frank Thaxton and Alan Mahon, stated his clients were not concerned with stopping the applicant running his business or getting an alcohol licence. Rather, it is concerned with ensuring that the problems raised are addressed at this stage to all parties mutual benefit. Mr Brown noted that 104 Great Portland Street does have a condition controlling smells and odours.

Mr Brown explained the issue with smells and odours is due to the proximity of the restaurant kitchen to the residential flats. Mr Brown noted these issues hadn't been dealt with at planning because of the creation of use class E. Mr Brown explained by reference to photographs how this issue resulted from inter-connecting doors in the building. Mr Brown stated residents were requesting the fire-escape door is made fit for purpose which Mr Gathani has agreed to. In relation to an opening and door in the property, residents had proposed "to close off with brick any opening that leads from the kitchen to the communal parts other than pre-existing fire escape doors." Mr Brown supported a fire-safety survey being done.

Mr Alan Mahon stated the bricking up of the door was a red herring because it's a new door. However, that only brings back the status quo depicted in the plans. The bricking up of the door is not therefore a solution to the objections. In relation to the fire door, Mr Mahon said there shouldn't be an inter-connection between the restaurant and residential stairwell. He requested the door be self-closing and alarmed to prevent habitual use of the door. He further requested the fire safety survey encompass the safety of the residents above and not just the restaurant.

Mr Koduah confirmed that the fire works condition wouldn't be signed off until all the people in the building was ensured.

Conclusion

The Sub Committee appreciated the fact that the Applicant had positively and proactively engaged with responsible authorities and residents. The Sub Committee noted that as a result of engagement with the Metropolitan Police, the Applicant had amended the hours sought for the sale of alcohol. Similarly, as a result of engagement with Environmental Health the Applicant was no longer seeking a licence permitting playing recorded music.

The Sub Committee were mindful of the fact that local residents had expressed concerns about the shared corridors and fire risks. The Sub Committee noted that works had already started and could not be conditioned on the licence, but the Sub Committee were grateful to the Applicant for offering undertakings to close off any opening from the kitchen into the communal parts, apart from the pre-existing fire door that leads from the basement of the premises to the communal meter area with an alarm and a self-closer.

The Sub Committee noted that the Applicant was an experienced operator and had run businesses in Westminster for over 30 years. He was familiar with the restaurant industry and only wanted to provide alcohol ancillary to a table meal. The Sub Committee noted that in the event a licence was not granted, the Applicant had discussed allowing patrons to bring their own alcohol but this would result in the Applicant having less control over alcohol consumption in the Premises.

Accordingly, the Sub Committee concluded that the licence would promote the licensing objectives.

Having carefully considered the committee papers and the submissions made by all of the parties, both orally and in writing, **the Committee has decided**, after taking into account all of the individual circumstances of this case and the promotion of the four licensing objectives:

- 1. To grant permission for the on sale of Alcohol Monday to Sunday from 09:00 to 23:00 hours.
- 2. To grant permission for the Hours the Premises are Open to the Public Monday to Friday 07:00 to 23:30 hours and Saturday to Sunday 08:00 to 23:30 hours.
- 3. That the Licence is subject to any relevant mandatory conditions.
- 4. That the Licence is subject to the following additional conditions imposed by the Committee which are considered appropriate and proportionate to promote the licensing objectives.

Conditions imposed by the Committee after a hearing

- 5. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises are open for licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31-day period.
- 6. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises are open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police Officer or

authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.

- 7. The supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises shall only be to a person seated taking a table meal there and for the consumption by such a person as ancillary to their meal.
- 8. The supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises shall be by Server, Waiter or Waitress service only.
- 9. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g., to smoke, shall not be permitted to take drinks or glass containers with them.
- 10. A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport, or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
- 11. An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made available on request to an authorised officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours of the incident and will record the following:
 - (a) all crimes reported to the venue
 - (b) all ejections of patrons
 - (c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
 - (d) any incidents of disorder
 - (e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons
 - (f) any faults in the CCTV system
 - (g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol
 - (h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.
- 12. Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits and the outside smoking area requesting patrons to respect the needs of local residents and leave the area quietly.
- 13. Food and Non-Intoxicating Beverages, including drinking water shall be available in all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on the premises.
- 14. There shall be no self-service of Alcohol.
- 15. No licensable activities shall take place at the premises until the capacity of the premises has been assessed by the Environmental Health Consultation Team and a condition detailing the capacity so determined has replaced this condition on the Licence.
- 16. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the premises which gives rise to a nuisance.

- 17. All windows and external doors shall be kept closed after 21:00 hours except for the immediate access and egress of persons.
- 18. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 minutes before the scheduled collection times.
- 19. The rear skylight roof access hatch shall be kept closed at all times except for the immediate access and egress for maintenance purpose.
- 20. No fumes, steam or odours shall be emitted from the licensed premises so as to cause a nuisance to any persons living or carrying on business in the area where the premises are situated.
- 21. No waste or recyclable materials, including bottles, shall be moved, removed from, or placed in outside areas between 23.00 hours and 08.00 hours on the following day.
- 22. No collections of waste or recycling materials (including bottles) from the premises shall take place between 23.00 and 08.00 hours on the following day.
- 23. No deliveries to the premises shall take place between 23.00 and 08.00 hours on the following day.
- 24. During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be swept and or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with the approved refuse storage arrangements by close of business.
- 25. The approved arrangements at the premises, including means of escape provisions, emergency warning equipment, the electrical installation and mechanical equipment, shall at all material times be maintained in good condition and full working order.
- 26. The means of escape provided for the premises shall be maintained unobstructed, free of trip hazards, be immediately available and clearly identified in accordance with the plans provided.
- 27. All emergency exit doors shall be available at all material times without the use of a key, code, card, or similar means.
- 28. Before the Premises are open to the public, the plans as provided with the application will be checked by the Environmental Health Consultation Team to ensure they are an accurate reflection of the Premises constructed and this condition has been removed from the Licence. Where the Premises layout has changed from the plans provided during the course of construction a variation application may be required.

29. No licensable activities shall take place at the premises until the premises have been assessed as satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time this condition shall be removed from the Licence by the Licensing Authority.

INFORMATIVES:

The Applicant has given the following undertakings to local residents:

- 1. To close off any opening from the kitchen into the communal parts, apart from the pre-existing fire door.
- 2. To fit the pre-existing fire door that leads from the basement of the premises to the communal meter area with an alarm and a self-closer.
- 3. To fit the door that leads from the basement of the premises to the communal meter area with smoke and noise strips.

If problems are experienced, then an application for a review of the Premises licence can be made.

This is the Full Decision reached by the Licensing Sub-Committee.

This Decision takes immediate effect.

The Licensing Sub-Committee

29 April 2021